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£6,788m

Capital expenditure
(2015/16: £6,684m)

2016/17 2015/16

6,788

6,684

OUR YEAR IN NUMBERS
In this report we outline our performance during 2016/17, 

the third year of Control Period 5. Here is a snapshot of how 
we performed against a selection of key indicators.

£2,836m
Operating costs*
(2015/16: £2,712m)

£483m
Profit before tax†

(2015/16: £411m)

£46.3bn

Net debt
(2015/16: £41.6bn)

£6,259m

Revenue in the year
(2015/16: £6,098m) 2016/17 2015/16

6,259
6,098

46.3
41.6

2016/17 2015/16

411483

2016/17 2015/16

2016/17 2015/16

205,555 
Number of workforce safety  
close calls made against our 
target of 120,000

* Before depreciation and amortisation.
† We operate on a not-for-dividend basis, 
so our profits are reinvested in the railway.

2,836 2,712

94.3%
Freight trains on time 
(2015/16: 94.3%)

17.2
Freight moved
(2015/16: 17.8 bn net 
tonne km)

87.6%
Passenger trains on time 
(2015/16: 89.1%)

2016/17 2015/16

2016/17 2015/16

17.82015/16

17.22016/17

64.42015/16

662016/17
66km

Passenger km traveled (bn) 
(2015/16: 64.4km)

(2015/16: 140,021)
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As part of this year’s Business Briefings, a series of events that give colleagues the chance to 
hear from our chief executive and other senior leaders about the strategy and direction of the 

organisation, staff were encouraged to submit entries for a photo competition based around the 
theme of ‘better every day’. Twelve entries made the shortlist, below, and colleagues having been 

voting for their favourites. The results are presented below.

BUSINESS BRIEFINGS  
PHOTOGRAPHY COMPETITION WINNERS 2017

© Daniel Tetstall, 2017 21 3© Sean Penny, 2017 © Ioannis Toutoungi, 2017

Daniela Cardoso

James Stockall

Richard Scott

Adrian Backshall

Mark Fenton

Chris Draper

James Montgomery

Owen Johns

Stephen Deaville
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NETWORK RAIL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2017

Financial review of the year 
This review will focus on the financial performance achieved by 
Network Rail in 2016/17.  In particular focussing on:  

 Operations  an analysis of revenue, operating costs,
financing costs and tax in the year.

 Investment in new assets  the progress in delivering

reliability, and help to meet the growing demands on 
the railway. 

 Efficiency measurement.
 Financial framework  demonstrating a robust and

stable financial framework, to deliver the performance
and investment required to drive the railway forward.

Operating Profit 
Revenue 
Revenue rose in the year, in line with that set out in the rail 

£6,259m (2015/16: £6,098m). 

The long-term trend, after adjusting for general inflation, is 
that charges are at their lowest level for over 11 years, despite 
significant increases in passenger and freight traffic over that 
period.  

This is as a result of passing on the benefits of increased 
efficiency to rail users and taxpayers. Over the same period 

increased in real terms, by 44% and now stands at over £9bn. 

Performance and access regimes 
Passenger and freight track access and network grants 
increased by £177m in line with the regulatory determination. 

regulatory regime. Network Rail is at risk of reductions in 
receipts from train operators for worse than expected train 
performance. 

When performance drops below the benchmarks determined 
by the ORR, Network Rail pays compensation to operators. 
Delays also include those for planned engineering work, 
required to maintain, renew and deliver record levels of 
enhancements to the network. 

The performance benchmarks tightened in the year. Asset 
performance was good, but performance in the year was 
impacted by slower recovery times from incidents, a knock 
on effect of a more congested network, and severe weather 
events such as the flooding in the London area last June and 
Storm Doris in February. As a result compensation paid to 
train operators increased by £34m. 

Network Rail also generated an additional £21m (8 per cent) 
of property & other revenue. The major drivers were property 
rental growth from increased retail sales at our managed 
stations and income growth from our commercial estate 
portfolio. 

Freight income fell once again due to lower volumes of 
traffic, particularly in coal haulage. 

Operating costs 
Net operating costs this year decreased by £228m to 
£4,263m (£4,491m 2015/16) this included a £352m 
decrease in depreciation and grant amortisation as a result 
of reassessing the average network asset lives in the year. In 
the year operating costs before depreciation & amortisation 
increased by £124m.  In real terms increases relate to 
national insurance changes and the actuarial measurement 
of pension costs, offset by reduced insurance costs.  The 
costs of strengthening our maintenance teams were offset 
by other operating cost reductions. 
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NETWORK RAIL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2017

Employee costs 
Cost increases arose from additional national insurance 
payments of £39m and additional accruals to provide for 
pensions of £68m. 

In addition wages and salaries increased by £124m largely as 
a result of an increase in the average number of employees in 
the year to 38,529 (2015/16:37,481) This was the result of the 
recruitment of around 700 employees to infrastructure 
projects to deliver the next phases of the Railway Upgrade 
Programme, and including the insourcing of previously 
contracted work to deliver better overall value for money. In 
addition our Network Operations teams increased by around 
300 employees, mainly by filling vacancies in the maintenance 
organisation, in part to reduce overtime costs and also to 
provide support for the maintenance of new electrification 
assets.  
As a result employee costs were £231m higher than last year, 
increasing from £1,929m in 2015/16 to £2,160m in 2016/17. 

Financing Costs 
Finance costs increased in the year from £1,322m last year to 
£1,692m. This increase in the year was due to higher debt 
levels and revaluation of RPI-linked bonds by an additional 
£228m due to higher inflation in the year. 

Tax 
Network Rail has significant brought-forward tax losses, not 
recognised as a tax asset in the accounts, and as it continues 
to invest heavily in the railway network it pays relatively small 
amounts of corporation tax.  

As last year, the deferred tax provision has reduced due to 
changes in corporation tax rates.  As a result a tax credit of 
£69m (credit of £306m 2015/16) is recorded in the income 
statement this year and the deferred tax liability has reduced 
to £2,385m (2015/16: £2,808m). 

Investment in the railway network 
Last year the Hendy Review set out the Railway Upgrade Plan 
with regard to how we would continue to transform the 
railway network. These projects will make a major difference 
to rail users across Great Britain and assist, through increased 
connectivity, in delivering economic growth. 

 

 
 

In the year we continued to deliver historically high levels of 
investment at £6,788m in the network in the year (£6,684m 
2015/16). This year we delivered £3,878m on 
enhancements that will increase the capacity of the 

record level in terms of work delivered, (£3,527m 2015/16).  
The portfolio includes major projects, such as the Great 
Western electrification, the Thameslink programme, work 
on our network for Crossrail, the Northern Hub, the Strategic 
Freight Network, and in Scotland, improving the network 
between Edinburgh and Glasgow.  

We have also invested £2,774m (£3,077m 2015/16) 
renewing the assets that comprise the railway network, such 
as track, signalling and civils, and in information 
management and asset information technologies. 

Efficiency Measurement 

efficiency is its Financial Performance Measure which 
measures our performance against the regulatory 
determination and against our in year targets.  

In the year we missed targets for turnover by £53m, 
operating costs by £35m, and renewals by £84m. More 
details on the performance in the year are set out on page 
7.   

The CP5 determination of charges, frames the funding 
agreement with Government for CP5, and included very 
challenging cost reduction assumptions. These were 
influenced by extrapolations of historic delivery (40% 
reduction in previous 10 years, given the growth in traffic 
over the period, this equated to halving the operating costs 
per train mile) and influenced by the industry wide 
efficiency potential suggested by the McNulty report. 

 In addition many potential programmes that could drive 
efficiency were at an early stage of development and the 
benefits have not been delivered in the time frames 
envisaged. 

As a result CP5 has been challenging. This year the 
difference between regulatory assumptions and actual 
performance was around 20%.  

The CP5 cost difference has been offset by deferral of 
renewals volumes to the next control period which has been 
assessed as acceptable within our asset management plans. 

Headwinds 
Our efficiency drive has been impacted by some significant 
headwinds, such as: 

 The recovery from recession in supply chain resulting in
real increases supply chain cost. UK construction price
and tender price indices indicate that cost increases
tracked below general inflation in the previous control
period. However in this control period these indices
have tracked significantly above general inflation.

£1.6bn £1.7bn 
£2.3bn £2.3bn

£3.2bn £3.4bn £3.5bn £3.9bn

£2.3bn £2.2bn
£2.5bn £2.8bn

£3.7bn £2.9bn £3.1bn £2.8bn

£0bn

£1bn

£2bn

£3bn

£4bn

£5bn

£6bn

£7bn

£8bn

09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

Capital expenditure 

Renewals

Enhancements
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NETWORK RAIL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2017

 We have shorter windows to carry out maintenance works,
partially due to an increasingly busy network and partially
because we have sought to reduce the risk of overruns
causing disruption to passengers. We have halved the
number of significant overruns over the past three years.
This has been achieved in part by setting greater
contingency time at the end of a possession. The result of
this is a reduction of productive time within a possession
for work to be completed.

 We have sought to improve network performance. The
busier network has seen an increase in time delays caused
per incident even though the quantum of incidents has
been steadily reducing. To mitigate this we have
strengthened teams to respond to incidents and delays
better, and to work closely with customers in the devolved
route businesses to deliver a more robust train service.

 Reconfiguring work banks, by allowing more local decision
making, has led to more targeted interventions. In
addition some works have been deferred to CP6. This is
beneficial in overall costs terms but the unit cost is greater
due to reduced economies of scale.

Improving efficiency 
We will improve efficiency further through a number of 
initiatives. These include: 

 Continuing the roll out and implementation of Lean
techniques across all  parts of the business;

 Utilisation of enhanced analytics to understand rates
of degradation and asset health;

 Application of techniques from other industries such
as aerospace and automotive industries in the use of
Design for Reliability;

 Increased use of Intelligent Infrastructure such as
eddy current shallow depth rail crack identification
which replaces visual inspections to support the
existing train-borne ultrasonic testing.  Overhead line
and track condition monitoring are being delivered
using the Pendolino fleet which will be extended with
the IEP and Crossrail trains as the fleets are
introduced.

 Creating an executive led renewals recovery
programme to improve our efficiency delivery over the
next two years and create a solid platform to move
into CP6. Initiatives include changes to engineering
standards & policies, including greater use of decision
support tools and value engineering; better worksite
access management including collaboration with
customers to reduce the level of contingency needed
for the timely hand back of the network at the end of
a possession; and improving work bank stability.

Financial framework 
The railway network 
The railway network that we own, and have a licence to 
operate, is included in the accounts at a value that represents 
what a third-party purchaser would pay for it, and this 
valuation underpins our financial framework. 

The basis of this valuation is set out in note 12 (page 109) to 
the accounts and comes from an assessment of the cash flows 
that are forecast to arise from the asset. The starting point for 
this valuation is the regulatory asset base (RAB). 

Subject to certain criteria established by the ORR, each year 
capital expenditure is added to the RAB and amortisation is 
deducted. 
The ORR can make deductions from the RAB in the event 
that we do not achieve our required outputs, for example 
not meeting required train performance or breaching a 
licence condition, or where the ORR wishes to make a 
retrospective funding adjustment.  

As the valuation of the railway network is based on 
projected cash flows, we have considered the potential for 
under performance in CP5, both in terms of the financial 
settlement and the required outputs. There is a growing gap 
between the trajectory of costs assumed in the CP5 
determination and our forecasts. 

As a result the valuation of the railway network was reduced 
by £1,075m (2015/16 £373m reduction). This is because we 
forecast to spend more per activity than the settlement 
allowed. 

Borrowing 
Since becoming a public sector body in September 2014 
Network Rail borrows directly from government and no 
longer issues debt on capital markets. This applies to both 
the borrowing required for new investment and refinancing 
of existing debt. 

The regulatory settlement provides strong security for future 
income and the Department for Transport (DfT) loan 
agreement provides a robust platform to refinance and 
borrow to invest in the railway network. 

Network Rail plans to borrow significantly over the 
remainder of the control period to finance the investment 
programme. We plan to draw down a further £7.0bn from 
the agreed DfT loan facility to finance this investment, and 
a further £3.3bn to refinance maturing debt. As a result by 
March 2019 net debt will increase to around £53bn.  

In addition to the DfT loan facility we have plans to 
potentially sell non-core assets, and find other ways to 
attract commercial partners in order to deliver more capital 
investment that will help increase the capacity of the 
railway network. 

2016/17 2015/16 

£bn £bn 

Borrowing to invest 3.7 4.4 

Borrowing to refinance 2.4 3.1 

DfT loan drawdown 6.1 7.5 

During the year ended 31 March 2017 Network Rail 
borrowed £6.1bn from DfT. Part of this new debt was used 
to pay back existing bonds whilst the remainder was used to 
invest in the railway infrastructure. As a result net debt rose 
from £41.6bn to £46.3bn. 

Managing interest and foreign exchange risk 
Network Rail manages its interest and foreign exchange risk 
by using derivative financial instruments (hedges).  
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1. Scotland - Page 15

2.  London North Eastern and
East Midlands (LNE&EM) - Page 17

3. Anglia - Page 19

4. South East - Page 21

5. Wessex - Page 23

6. Western - Page 25

7. Wales - Page 27

8. London North Western (LNW) - Page 29

9. Freight and National Passenger 
Operators (FNPO) - Page 31
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NETWORK RAIL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2017 

Performance graph and table 
Under the Regulations, companies are required to include a chart showing historic total shareholder return (i.e. share price and 
re-invested dividends) over an eight-year period alongside a table that shows the remuneration paid to the chief executive over 
the same period. As Network Rail does not have shares, or a share price, an alternative metric of passenger kilometres travelled 
has been used. 

 
 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 

Chief 
executive 

Mark 
Carne 

Mark 
Carne 

Mark 
Carne 

Mark 
Carne 

David 
Higgins 

David 
Higgins 

David 
Higgins 

David 
Higgins 

Iain 
Coucher 

Iain 
Coucher 

Single total 
figure of 
remuneration 

£820k £811k £771k £200k £790k £836k £736k £161k £528k £1,447k 

AIP (% of 
vesting) 

37% 34.7% 0% 20.9% N/A 28.6% 0% N/A N/A 56.8% 

LTIP (% of 
vesting) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 47.8% 

Iain Coucher was appointed chief executive on 22 March 2002. He resigned on 31 October 2010 
David Higgins was appointed chief executive on 1 February 2011. He resigned on 28 February 2014 
Mark Carne was appointed chief executive on 24 February 2014 
N/A indicates that there was no eligibility for an award vesting in respect of the relevant year 

 
Relative importance of spend on pay 
Under the Regulations, companies are required to illustrate the relative importance of spend on pay by disclosing the total 
employee remuneration and returns to shareholders (i.e. dividends and share buybacks) in the reporting year and the prior year.  
Network Rail is a not-for-dividend company and therefore cannot provide data on returns to shareholders.  Therefore, in line 
with the principle of this disclosure, the table below includes other key Network Rail metrics to illustrate employee remuneration 
in the context of overall business activities. 

 2016/17 2015/16 Change (%) 

Total employee remuneration £2,160m  £1.929m  12.0% 

Total expenditure £9,794m £9,637m 1.6% 

 
 remuneration committee and advisers 

The membership of the committee during the year comprised the following independent non-executive directors: Michael 
s, Chris Gibb, Sharon Flood, Sir Peter Hendy and Richard Brown.   

 
The group general counsel and company secretary is secretary to the committee.  The committee is also supported by the 
director, Human Resources, and Head of Reward and Benefits.  The chief executive attends meetings at the invitation of the 
committee.  No individual is present when their own remuneration is being discussed.  
 
In carrying out its responsibilities in line with best practice, the committee seeks independent external advice as necessary.  
During the year, the committee retained Deloitte LLP to provide independent advice on executive remuneration. Deloitte was 
appointed by the committee in 2012 following a selection process undertaken by the committee.  The committee is 
comfortable that the Deloitte engagement partner and team provide objective and independent remuneration advice to the  
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

 Note

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

Revenue 3 6,259 6,098
Net operating costs 4 (4,263) (4,491)
Operating profit 1,996 1,607
Property revaluation movements and profits on disposal 195 183
Profit from operations 2,191 1,790
Finance income 7 5 8
Other gains and losses 8 (21) (65)
Finance costs 9 (1,692) (1,322)
Profit before tax 483 411
Tax* 10 69 306
Profit/(loss) after tax for the year  552 717

*	� The tax credit includes a credit of £90m (2016:£181m) due to enacted rate changes and a credit of £35m (2016: £246m) due to utilisation of previously derecognised tax losses. 

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the group has elected to take the exemption with regard to disclosing the company income 
statement. The company’s result for the year was £nil (2016: £nil).
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

Note

2017
Group

 £m 

2016
Group

£m 

Profit for the year 552 717

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Loss on revaluation of the railway network 12 (1,075) (373)
Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit pension schemes 25 (799) 99
Deferred tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 21 329 58

Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (1,545) (216)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Loss on movement in fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives (116) (232)
Reclassification of balances in the hedging reserve to the income statement 100 22
Deferred tax relating to components of other comprehensive income - 17

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (16) (193)

Impact of change in tax rate to components of other comprehensive income 19 47

Other comprehensive expense for the year (1,542) (362)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (990) 355
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Group

Revaluation 
reserve

£m

Other
reserve*

£m

Hedging
reserve

£m

Retained
earnings

£m

Total 
equity

£m

Balance at 31 March 2015 948 249 (799) 5,993 6,391
Profit for the year – – – 717 717
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year:
Impact of change in tax rate 75 – – (11) 64
Revaluation of the railway network (373) – – – (373)
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation from revaluation reserve (23) – – 23 –
Decrease in deferred tax liability on the railway network 81 – – (4) 77
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes – – – 99 99
Deferred tax on actuarial gain – – – (19) (19)
Decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives – – (232) – (232)
Reclassification of balances in hedging reserve to the income statement – – 22 – 22
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year: (240) – (210) 805 355

Balance at 31 March 2016 708 249 (1,009) 6,798 6,746
Profit for the year – – – 552 552
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year:
Impact of change in tax rate 14 – (10) 15 19
Revaluation of the railway network (1,075) – – – (1,075)
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation from revaluation reserve (6) – – 6 –
Decrease in deferred tax liability on the railway network 204 – – (1) 203
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension schemes – – – (799) (799)
Deferred tax on actuarial loss – – – 116 116
Decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives – – (116) – (116)
Decrease in deferred tax liability on hedging derivatives – – 10 – 10
Reclassification of balances between reserves 344 – (18) (326) –
Reclassification of balances in hedging reserve to the income statement – – 100 – 100
Total comprehensive expense for the year: (519) – (34) (437) (990)
Balance at 31 March 2017 189 249 (1,043) 6,361 5,756

*	 Other reserves of £249m (2016: £249m) include the vesting reserve on privatisation.

There has been no movement in the current or prior year affecting the statement of changes in equity for the company.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
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 Note

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

2017
Company

£m

2016
Company

£m

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 65 66 – –
Property, plant and equipment – the railway network 12 62,730 58,532 – –
Investment property 13 1,231 1,109 – –
Derivative financial instruments 19 864 654 – –
Other receivables 16 37 73 – –
Interest in subsidiaries and joint ventures 14 33 35 – –
  64,960 60,469 – –

Current assets
Inventories 15 191 205 – –
Finance lease receivables - 1 – –
Trade and other receivables 16 1,462 1,720 – –
Current tax assets 1 5 – –
Derivative financial instruments 19 238 309 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 942 1,191 – –

2,834 3,431 – –
Total assets   67,794 63,900 – –

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (4,222) (3,365) – –
Borrowings 18 (3,396) (2,685) – –
Derivative financial instruments 19 (1) (9) – –
Provisions 20 (64) (71) – –

(7,683) (6,130) – –
Net current liabilities   (4,849) (2,699) – –

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 (44,166) (40,601) – –
Derivative financial instruments 19 (1,528) (1,399) – –
Other payables 17 (3,965) (4,796) – –
Retirement benefit obligation 25 (2,311) (1,420) – –
Deferred tax liabilities 21 (2,385) (2,808) – –

(54,355) (51,024) – –
Total liabilities   (62,038) (57,154) – –
Net assets  5,756 6,746 – –

Equity 
Revaluation reserve 189 708 – –
Other reserve 249 249 – –
Hedging reserve (1,043) (1,009) – –
Retained earnings 6,361 6,798 – –
Total equity 5,756 6,746 – –

The financial statements on pages 94 to 137 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 July 2017.

They were signed on its behalf by:

	
Mark Carne 	 Jeremy Westlake
Chief executive 	 Chief financial officer

Company registration number: 4402220

BALANCE SHEETS
AT 31 MARCH 2017
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

 Note

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 22 3,412 3,413 – –
Interest paid* (1,173) (1,185) – –
Income tax (paid)/received (2) (1) – –
Net cash generated from operating activities 2,237 2,227 – –

Investing activities
Interest received 5 8 – –
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (6,837) (6,616) – –
Proceeds on disposal of property 91 75 – –
Capital grants received 436 764 – –
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from joint ventures 2 7 – –
Capital element of finance lease receipts – – – –
Net cash used in investing activities  (6,303) (5,762) – –

Financing activities
Repayments of borrowings 18 (2,393) (3,070) – –
Proceeds from borrowings 18 6,094 7,500 – –
Increase in collateral posted 18 194 (93) – –
Increase in collateral held 18 (71) 80 – –
Cash (paid)/received on settlement of derivatives (7) (4) – –
Net cash generated from financing activities   3,817 4,413 – –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (249) 878 – –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,191 313 – –
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   942 1,191 – –

*	 Balance includes the net interest on derivative financial instruments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

1. General information 
Network Rail Limited is a company limited by guarantee  which is incorporated and domiciled in Great Britain and registered in England and 
Wales under the Companies Act 2006. 

The company registration number is 4402220.

The company’s registered office is situated at 1 Eversholt Street, London NW1 2DN, United Kingdom.

The company’s and its subsidiaries’ (together ‘the group’) principal activities are detailed in the ‘About us’ section on pages 4 to 6.

Network Rail Limited is organised as a single operating segment for financial reporting purposes.

2. Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted for use  
in the European Union, and therefore comply with Article 4 of the European Union International Accounting Standard regulation, and  
in accordance with interpretations of the IFRS Interpretation Committee.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of the railway network to a value 
determined using an income approach, the revaluation of investment properties, the measurement of certain financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) and the measurement of derivative financial instruments at fair value.

The principal accounting policies adopted by the directors are set out below. The policies have been consistently applied to the  
years presented.

Reclassification of Network Rail
In December 2013, the Office for National Statistics announced the reclassification of Network Rail as a Central Government Body in the UK 
National Accounts and Public Sector Finances with effect from 1 September 2014. This is a statistical change driven by new guidance in the 
European System of National Accounts 2010 (ESA10).  The reclassification does not have any impact on the group’s financial reporting 
requirements under IFRS.

Adoption of new and revised standards 
The accounting policies adopted in this set of financial statements are consistent with those set out in the annual financial statements for 
the year to 31 March 2016.

The following accounting standards have not been early adopted by the group but will become effective in future years and are considered 
to have a material impact on the group that has yet to be assessed:

i) IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’. This is a new standard that addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and 
liabilities.

ii) IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’.  These are amendments and clarifications to the original issue of the standard.

iii) IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure on interest in Other Entities’ provides further amendments after Annual Improvements assessments.

iv) IFRS16 ‘Leases’ establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, with the objective of 
ensuring that lessees and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully represents those transactions.

v) IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts .‘ This is a new standard released in May 2017 and applicable to annual periods from 1 January 2021.

There are no other IFRS or IFRS Interpretation Committee interpretations not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact 
on the group.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Going concern 
The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the 
‘About us’ section on pages 4 to 6, and ‘Business unit summaries’ on pages 15 to 32. The financial position of the group, its cash flows, 
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Chief Financial Officer’s review on pages 9 to 13. 

The group has considerable financial resources together with long-term contracts with a number of customers and suppliers. This includes 
the DfT loan facility of £30.875bn, which Network Rail intends to draw upon to deliver its investment activities in the next 12 months. 
Business plans and financial models are used to project cash flows and monitor financial risks and liquidity positions, forecast future 
funding requirements and other key financial ratios, including those relevant to our network licence. Analysis is undertaken to understand 
the resilience of the group and its business model to the potential impact of the group’s principal risks, or a combination of those risks. This 
analysis takes account of the availability and effectiveness of the mitigating actions that could realistically be taken to avoid or reduce the 
impact or occurrence of the underlying risks. The board considers the likely effectiveness of such actions through regular monitoring and 
review of risk management and internal control systems. Further details are set out in the Viability Statement on pages 44 and 45.

In addition, Note 24 to the accounts includes the group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk 
management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit, liquidity and foreign 
exchange risk.

After making enquiries, including those detailed above, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is 
exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In 
terms of subsidiaries the group: 
• Consolidates subsidiaries from the date on which control passes to the group and deconsolidates from the date control ceases; 
• Changes the accounting policies of subsidiaries, where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group; 
• Eliminates intercompany transactions and balances in the group results. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue represents amounts derived from the 
management and provision of assets for use in the operation of the railway, and property rental income net of value added tax.  
Amounts recognised take account of any performance penalties or bonuses in respect of the year.

Revenue also includes supplements to the access charges and bonuses receivable from, less penalties and rebates payable to, customers 
and stakeholders. Operating expenditure includes additional contract amounts and bonuses payable to, less penalties receivable from, 
suppliers and the Office of Rail and Road. 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable. This is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Grants 
Grants and other contributions received towards the cost of property, plant and equipment are included in trade and other payables as deferred 
income and released to the income statement over the estimated useful economic life of the railway network. Revenue grants earned for the 
management and provision of railway network assets are credited to the income statement in the period to which they relate.

Leasing 
Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The group as lessor 
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the group’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases and initial direct costs are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
The group as lessee 
Assets held under finance leases are recognised at their fair value as assets of the group or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Each is determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet 
as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the income statement, unless 
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general policy on 
borrowing costs (see below). 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Foreign currencies 
Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Foreign currency amounts are initially recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Gains and 
losses arising on retranslation are included in the income statement for the period and are classified as either operating or financing 
depending on the nature of the monetary item giving rise to them. 

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of 
time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Operating profit 
Operating profit is stated before finance income, finance costs, other gains and losses, and revaluation movements and profits on disposal 
of properties.  

Retirement benefit costs 

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

For the defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with full actuarial 
valuations being carried out at least every three years and updates to these valuations carried out in intervening years. The current service 
cost and plan administration expenses are recognised as an operating expense in the consolidated income statement. 

The group’s share of the actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised outside the 
income statement and presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

The net interest cost is the charge in the year on the net defined benefit liability. The charge reflects the passage of time and is recognised 
as a finance cost in the income statement.

Past service cost and credits are recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, as 
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is 
limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The group reflects its share of the obligation in the financial statements. The IAS 19 deficit, service cost and interest cost therefore represent 
60 per cent of the total for each of the schemes.  Further details on the retirement benefit schemes are provided in note 25.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Tax 
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax. The group’s current tax liability is calculated using the tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Current tax is based on the taxable results of the group and calculated in accordance with tax rules in the United Kingdom. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the temporary differences that arise when tax authorities recognise  
and measure assets and liabilities with rules that differ from those of the consolidated accounts. Deferred tax is calculated under  
the balance sheet liability method at the rate of tax expected to prevail, subject to the rate being enacted or substantively enacted  
by that date, when the temporary differences reverse. Deferred tax is not discounted.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised on all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that there will be taxable profits available against which the temporary timing differences can 
be utilised.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity. In this 
case the deferred tax is also accounted for within equity.

Property, plant and equipment – the railway network 
The group has one class of property, plant and equipment, being the railway network. This is the integrated network that the group uses to 
deliver the operation, maintenance and renewal of Great Britain’s national rail infrastructure. 

Valuation methodology
The railway network is carried in the balance sheet at its fair value. As there is no active market in railway infrastructure assets, the  
company has derived the fair value of the railway network using an income approach. The income approach assesses the discounted  
future cash flows that are expected to be generated by the railway network, including an assessment of under and outperformance against 
the current 5-year regulatory determination.  
This valuation is carried out twice a year and revaluation gains and losses are reflected in other comprehensive income. 

Depreciation
The railway network is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated weighted average remaining useful economic life. The estimated 
weighted average remaining useful economic life of the network is currently 40 years (2016: 30 years). The remaining useful economic lives of 
network assets are estimated annually, with external verification of the valuation and asset lives carried out where required.

Capitalisation of operating costs
In line with IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment all directly attributable costs necessary to deliver  the investment programme are capitalised. 
Employee and other associated costs are capitalised if they arise directly as a result of delivering the investment programme.  

Investment property 
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is stated at its fair value at the balance sheet 
date. Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the income statement for the period in which 
they arise.

Research and development 
Research and general development expenditure is charged to the income statement as incurred. Expenditure on the development  
of specific projects is capitalised only if all of the following conditions are met:

•	 An asset is created that can be identified

•	 It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits

•	 The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets 
An intangible asset is only recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the group and its costs can be measured 
reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis. Cost includes the original 
purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Licences and 
concessions are amortised over the length of their contractual agreement. Intangible assets are tested for impairment at each balance 
sheet date by comparing their carrying value and the expected discounted cash flows expected to arise from them over their contractual 
agreements. If the carrying value exceeds the discounted cash flows expected to arise from the assets, the carrying value would be 
impaired accordingly.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour costs and those overheads 
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
method. 

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, and ‘loans 
and receivables’. Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts, recognised in the income statement. The remaining assets are measured at subsequent reporting dates 
at fair value. 

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) where the asset is either held for trading or it is designated  
at FVTPL. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of these assets are recognised in the income statement for the period.  
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

•	 It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets at 
FVTPL are stated at fair value with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement. Financial assets are impaired where there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been reduced.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, 
which are reduced by appropriate allowances for irrecoverable amounts. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through the income statement. The reversal is only made to the extent that the carrying amount  
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances held by the group, commercial paper and money market deposit investments  
at varying rates. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

Joint ventures 
The results and net assets of joint ventures are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting. 
Investments in joint ventures are carried in the balance sheet at cost and adjusted by post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of  
net assets of joint ventures, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of a joint venture in excess of the group’s 
interest in a joint venture are not recognised.

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated at FVTPL. A financial 
liability is classified as held for trading if it is a derivative that is neither designated nor effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability, other than a financial liability held for trading, is designated as FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation 
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise exist, in line with International 
Accounting Standard 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, paragraph 9. Certain bonds, as set out in Note 18,  
are designated at FVTPL. These bonds are hedged by derivative financial instruments as part of a documented risk management strategy. 
By recognising these bonds and derivatives at FVTPL the recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise exist with regard to these risk 
management strategies are significantly reduced.

The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Debt 
Debt instruments not designated at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value, net of discount and direct issue costs, and subsequently 
recognised at amortised cost using straight line amortisation as a proxy for the IAS 39 effective interest rate method. Finance charges, 
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis to the income 
statement using the effective interest rate method, and are added to the carrying value of the debt instrument to the extent that they are 
not settled in the period in which they arise. 

Trade payables 
Trade payables are ordinarily not interest bearing and are stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
The group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The group 
uses interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures. The use of financial 
derivatives is governed by the group’s policies approved by the treasury committee of the board, which provide written principles on the  
use of financial derivatives.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at each balance sheet date. Derivatives are presented on the balance sheet in line with their maturity date.

The group designates certain hedging instruments as either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges. At the inception of the hedge 
relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management 
objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, 
the group documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
value or cash flows of the hedged item.

Some derivatives, while complying with the group’s financial risk management policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting and are 
therefore classified as held for trading. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for cash flow hedge 
accounting are recognised in the income statement as they arise.

Cashflow hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised or no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting. Where the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument that remains recognised directly in equity from the period when the hedge was effective remains in equity until 
the forecast transaction occurs. 

In the instance where cashflow hedge accounting is discontinued since the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that remains recognised directly in equity from the period where the hedge as effective 
is recognised in the income statement.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value, with gains or losses 
being reported in the income statement.

Note 19 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve 
in equity are detailed in the statement of changes in equity and in the statement of comprehensive income.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that is attributed to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the 
hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised within ‘other gains and losses’  
in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately within ‘other gains and losses’ in the income statement. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the group will be 
required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of uncertainty 
(i) Property, plant and equipment – the railway network: the estimate of the fair value of the railway network is based on an income approach 
using the regulatory asset base, which equates to the discounted future cash flows associated with the network, adjusted for the net present 
value of any variances from the Office of Rail and Road’s determination using the building block model of regulation. Further details are set out 
in Note 12. The following key changes have been applied in these accounts:

i)	 Forecasting the inflation to be applied to the regulatory asset base. Inflation is applied using the  November Retail Prices Index. For every 
incremental 10 basis points, the regulatory asset base, on which the valuation is based, will increase by £62m (and vice versa in the case of a 
10 basis points decrease in the Retail Price Index).

ii)	The assessment of underperformance against the regulatory determination which is discussed in more detail in Note 12.

iii)	The weighted average remaining asset lives have been increased from 30 years to 40 years.  IAS 16 requires that management regularly 
review asset lives on at least an annual basis and that that depreciation is charged on a systematic basis that reflects the way the asset is 
consumed. In September 2016 Network Rail produced a detailed and rigorous depreciated replacement cost (DRC) valuation of the railway 
network for inclusion in DfT’s group accounts. In preparing these interim financial statements management reviewed the weighted average 
remaining asset lives as produced in the DRC valuation and have therefore reflected this in these accounts.  

(ii) Investment property – an element of the investment property portfolio valuation is determined using the Beacon method. Jones Lang 
LaSalle provided their assessment of yields for 13 properties in the portfolio. These are then used to produce income multipliers and applied  
to the rental streams from each of the individual properties in the portfolio to form an overall valuation. Further details are set out in Note 13.

(iii) Retirement benefit obligations – the group recognises and discloses its retirement benefit obligation in accordance with the 
measurement and presentational requirement of IAS 19 (Revised) ‘Employee Benefits’. The calculations include a number of judgements 
and estimations in respect of the expected rate of return on assets, the discount rate, inflation assumptions, the rate of increase in salaries 
and life expectancy among others. Changes in these assumptions can have a significant effect on the value of the retirement benefit 
obligation. The key assumptions made are set out in Note 25. The total contribution rate payable under the Railway Pension Scheme (RPS) 
and the Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme is normally split in the proportion 60:40 between the group and the members, 
respectively. The group reflects its share of the contribution in the financial statements. 

(iv) Hedge accounting – forward starting sterling interest rate swaps are accounted for as cashflow hedges where it is believed that future 
sterling issuances are highly probable.

(v) Taxation – the group recognises and discloses its deferred tax assets in accordance with IAS 12. Where it is considered to be probable 
that deferred tax assets can be matched to future taxable profits then deferred tax assets are recognised, or offset against the overall 
deferred tax provision as appropriate. This evaluation requires significant judgements to be made, including the uncertainty of the 
availability of future taxable profits. Further details are set out in Note 10. 

3. Revenue

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

Franchised track access and grant income 5,885 5,742
Freight revenue 53 56
Property rental income 293 274
Other income 28 26
Revenue 6,259 6,098

The effect of the performance regimes was a net loss of £180m (2016: net loss of £146m) which led to a reduction in revenue of the 
respective amount.
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4. Net operating costs

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

Employee costs (see Note 6) 2,160 1,929
Own costs capitalised (985) (873)
Other external charges (including infrastructure maintenance costs) 1,968 1,977
Other operating income and recoveries (307) (321)
Net operating costs before depreciation and amortisation 2,836 2,712

Depreciation (see Note 12) 1,515 1,876
Capital grants amortised (88) (97)
Net operating costs 4,263 4,491

5. Profit from operations
Total profit from operations is stated after charging/(crediting):

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

Research and development costs expensed – 1
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 1
Profit on sale of properties (64) (69)
Increase in the fair value of investment properties (131) (114)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 218 228
Write downs of inventories recognised as an expense (2) –

Amounts payable to auditors
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the company and consolidated financial statements 0.4 0.5
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for audit related services
– The audit of the company’s subsidiaries 0.1 0.1
– Regulatory accounts audit and interim review 0.1 0.1
Total amounts payable to auditors 0.6 0.7

In the financial years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 there were no fees payable to the company’s auditors in respect of non-audit related 
services.

6. Employee costs
The monthly average number of employees (including executive directors) was:

 

2017
Group 

Number 

2016
Group 

Number 

Management and operation of the railway 38,529 37,481

 

2017
Group

 £m 

2015
Group

£m

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries 1,803 1,679
Social security costs 203 164
Defined contribution pension costs (see Note 25) 18 15
Defined benefit pension costs – current service costs (see Note 25) 178 195
Defined benefit pension costs – past service costs (see Note 25) (42) (124)
Total employee costs 2,160 1,929

In the years ended 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 key management personnel were all the executive directors and the chair of the 
board of directors. Full details of their remuneration are included within the annual remuneration report on pages 70 to 85. 
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7. Finance income

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

Interest receivable on investments and deposits 5 8
 5 8

Finance income earned on financial assets analysed by category of asset, is as follows:

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances) 5 8
 5 8

8. Other gains and losses

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

Net ineffectiveness arising from cash flow hedge accounting (52) (25)

Fair value gain on fair value hedges 164 156
Fair value loss on carrying value of fair value hedged debt (171) (159)
Loss arising from fair value hedge accounting (7) (3)

Net decrease in fair value of non-hedge accounted debt (28) (15)
Gain/(loss) on derivatives not hedge accounted 66 (22)
Gain/(loss) arising from non-hedge accounting 38 (37)
Total other losses (21) (65)

No other gains and losses have been recognised in respect of loans and receivables other than those disclosed in this note. No gains or 
losses have been recognised on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost other than those disclosed in Note 9.

The movements in the hedged risk adjustment on fair value hedged debt, the movement in fair value of debt designated as fair value 
through profit and loss and exchange differences on retranslation of foreign currency debt that form part of the above total other gains and 
losses are in relation to debt issuances disclosed in Note 18.

9. Finance costs

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 16 10
Interest on loan issued by Department of Transport 417 275
Interest on bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme 991 772
Interest on derivative instruments 75 21
Defined benefit pension interest cost 45 49
Debt Issuance Programme financial indemnity fee 299 326
Other interest 3 2
Total borrowing costs 1,846 1,455
Less: capitalised interest (154) (133)
Total finance costs 1,692 1,322

Borrowing costs are included in the costs of qualifying assets to the extent that the asset is financed by the group. The average rate used 
during the year was 4.4 per cent (2016: 3.6 per cent).
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10. Tax

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

Current tax:
Corporation tax charge - -
Adjustment in respect of prior years 6 (6)
Total current tax charge/(credit) 6 (6)

Deferred tax:
Current year charge/(credit) 92 (187)
Effect of rate change (90) (181)
Adjustments in respect of prior years (77) 68
Total deferred tax (75) (300)
Total tax credit (69) (306)

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

Profit before tax 483 411

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 20 per cent (2016: 20 per cent) 97 82
Adjustments in respect of prior years (71) 58
Effect of rate change (90) (181)
Income not subject to tax 28 (32)
De-recognition of deferred tax assets - brought forward - 4
De-recognition of deferred tax assets - current year 1 9
Utilisation of tax losses previously de-recognised (34) (246)
Advance corporation tax previously written off – –
Tax credit for the year (69) (306)

UK corporation tax is calculated at 20 per cent (2016: 20 per cent). During 2015/16, legislation was enacted setting the corporation tax rates at 
18 per cent from 1 April 2020. This resulted in a £181m credit in 2015/16. During 2016/17 further legislation was enacted reducing the rate 
from 1 April 2020 to 17 per cent.   The effect of these future rate changes created a £90m credit in the current year’s tax credit.

The utilisation of tax losses previously derecognised principally relates to offsetting the charge arising from the rate change in respect of 
assets derecognised under IAS 12 and the utilisation of brought forward losses by Network Rail Insurance Limited in the current year

The group have £37m (2016: £32m) of surplus advance corporation tax carried forward (including a release in relation to the prior year). No 
deferred tax asset has been provided in respect of this amount.

Under IAS 12 deferred tax assets can only be recognised where it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred 
tax asset can be utilised.  As in 2016, it remains improbable that Network Rail will return to a level of taxable profits that will allow for 
recognition of deferred tax assets relating to the trading losses carried forward.  

‘Income not subject to tax in the year’ is mainly due to the timing differences arising from accounting for derivatives and their associated tax 
charges/credits.
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11. Intangible assets
Group

Concession
£m

Cost
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 78

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2015 (11)
Charge for the year (1)
At 31 March 2016 (12)
Charge for the year (1)
At 31 March 2017 (13)

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2017 65
At 31 March 2016 66

The intangible assets above relate to seperable economic rights associated with the concession to run the operations, maintenance and 
renewal business of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link, and are held by the wholly owned company Network Rail (High Speed) Limited.

Intangible assets are being amortised over the life of the licence of 83 years to 2086. Amortisation is charged to net operating costs in the 
income statement.

12. Property, plant and equipment – the railway network
 

Group 
£m

Valuation
At 1 April 2015 54,091
Additions 6,684
Transfer from investment property 6
Depreciation charge for the year  (1,876)
Revaluation in the year (373)
At 31 March 2016 58,532
Additions 6,788
Depreciation charge for the year  (1,515)
Revaluation in the year (1,075)
At 31 March 2017 62,730

Given the economic and physical interdependency of the assets comprising the railway network, the company has concluded that the 
railway network is considered as a single class of asset.  The railway network is carried at its fair value.

As there is no active market in railway infrastructure assets, the company has derived the fair value of the railway network using an income 
approach.  Under this approach the cash flows that the company expects to generate from the railway network are assessed using a market 
rate of return.  This valuation is carried out twice a year and revaluation gains and losses are reflected in other comprehensive income.  

The independent rail regulator, the Office of Rail and Road (ORR), determines the revenue requirement of the company using the building 
block model of regulation.  Under this model the company’s annual income (received in the form of the network grant and track access 
charges) comprises:

a)	 The regulator’s assessment of the efficient costs of operating and maintaining the network

b)	An allowance for Regulatory Asset Base (RAB) amortisation – qualifying capital expenditure is added to the RAB as incurred and 
recovered by the company through future amortisation allowances (in order to spread the cost to customers and stakeholders of 
investment in the railway network over many years).

c)	 An allowed return on the RAB – calculated by applying the rate of return permitted by the ORR (based on its assessment of the market’s 
cost of capital) to the RAB balance.
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12. Property, plant and equipment – the railway network continued 
Future cash flows under (a) are assumed to be equivalent over time to the company’s actual costs of operation and maintenance, on the 
basis that the Regulator aims to set targets which are ambitious but achievable. These therefore have no net impact on forecast future cash 
flows, or the valuations. The allowed return (c) is based on a cost of capital which would be offset in a discounted future cash flows model 
(see Discount rate below). The economic rights inherent in ownership of the regulated railway network asset are therefore vested primarily 
in the value of the RAB, which will be recovered through future regulated income as the RAB is amortised (b). 

This means that it is possible for the RAB itself to be used as the starting point for a discounted cash flow valuation.  The RAB fluctuates in 
valuation; increasing in value principally as a result of allowances for capital expenditure and inflation indexation, whilst reducing for 
amortisation.  The adjustments may give rise to upwards or downwards revaluations.  Further changes are  subject to:

a)	 Adjustment for any difference between regulatory rate of return and the market cost of capital that a third party investor would use to 
assess the value of the network; and

b)	Adjustment for forecast future under or out performance against the regulatory determination over the remainder of the current control 
period. No adjustment is made in respect of future control periods on the expectation of the Regulator setting, over the long term, 
ambitious but achievable determination. See forecast performance variation below. 

When valuing the network, management is required to consider the value a knowledgeable willing party would place on the network in an 
arm’s length transaction.  On the grounds that third party investors are known to value the assets of regulated companies by reference to 
the RAB, and that the cash flows associated with the regulatory framework are considered sufficiently stable and robust to form the basis of 
a third party valuation, management has used the RAB as the starting point for its valuation.  

Third party funding
Assets funded directly by third party contributions rather than RAB funded are included in the valuation at cost.  £3,525m (2016: £3,168m) 
of the total relates to property, plant and equipment elements funded outside the regulatory  asset base, where cash has already been 
received, and deferred income recognised to match.  

Depreciation
The depreciation charge for any year is calculated using the average carrying value for the year and the estimated remaining weighted 
average useful economic life of the railway network. The remaining weighted average useful economic life of the railway network was 
calculated using the engineering assessment of serviceable economic lives of the major categories that comprise the railway network. The 
estimated remaining weighted average useful economic life of the network is currently 40 years (2016: 30 years).  As a result of the change 
in assets lives the depreciation charge reduced in the year by £361m from £1,876m to £1,515m.  Although the change in asset life has no 
impact on the overall valuation increasing asset lives by one year would decrease depreciation by £37m, whereas decreasing asset lives by 
one year would increase depreciation by £39m. See critical judgements section on page 105 for more details.

Discount rate
The discount rate used in the income approach is the pre-tax rate of return set by the ORR. The ORR performs a periodic review every five 
years, which leads to the setting of the appropriate rate for the five-year period. The ORR’s method encompasses advice from consultants, 
comparisons to similar infrastructure assets and discussions with Network Rail. Management believes this cost of capital reflects the 
assumptions that a market participant would make in arriving at a discount rate.

The ORR has determined that for CP5 it will not provide Network Rail with a full market cost of capital.  The ORR believes that because 
Network Rail is primarily funded by debt supported by the Financial Indemnity Mechanism it is not necessary to provide a return on equity.  
A change in the rate of return affects the allowed return element of Network Rail’s income, but the RAB is not affected. The ORR has 
confirmed that a conventionally funded market participant would receive an allowed return equal to the full market cost of capital.  

Should the ORR amend the permitted rate of return in future quinquennial reviews, the regulator would raise or lower the permitted 
charges to customers so as to achieve the new rate of return. In other words, the cash flows would change but the RAB would not. 

The rate of return set by the regulator is, at each quinquennial review date, consistent with the market discount rates for infrastructure 
assets. Movements in the market cost of capital within a review period would have a small effect on the valuation of the railway network. 
However, at the start of the next review period, the regulator will re-evaluate the rate of return and reset it to the market rate. Changes in 
the fair value of the railway network resulting from movements in the market rate would not be permanent – only lasting until the next 
review. 

The valuation includes a reassessment of this rate to determine whether it continues to reflect conditions in the market in between review 
dates. This assessment is by reference to movements in observable market data, including the risk-free cost of borrowing, and changes in 
the weighted average cost of capital of listed utilities with similar gearing ratios. 

The following table shows the effect of changes in the market discount rate on the carrying value of the railway network and on the 
depreciation charge. The analysis only considers the effects of movements in the market discount rate until the end of the control period 
(2019), and not in perpetuity. This is because the regulator performs a review every five years, so the rate applicable to the income streams 
derived from the railway network will be rebased to the market every five years. The effects of changes in the market discount rate apply 
equally to increases and to decreases in discount rates.
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12. Property, plant and equipment – the railway network continued

 

Change in cost
of capital

(basis points)
31 March 

2017 
31 March 

2016 

Change in fair value 25 £318m £436m
50 £635m £873m

Percentage change in fair value 25 0.5% 0.8%
50 1.0% 1.5%

Change in annual depreciation charge 25 £11m £15m
50 £21m £29m

Forecast performance variations
In assessing the value of the railway network, management considers that a knowledgeable willing third party would take into account the 
perceived fairness and deliverability of the current regulatory determination.   Accordingly management makes an addition (or deduction) to 
the valuation for its assessment of the likely ORR determination in respect of the financial consequences of anticipated future out (or under) 
performance against the regulatory determination.  

Network Rail’s cost outturns on capital work (renewals and enhancements) have an impact on future cash flows under our regulatory 
framework, since only a fraction of spend in excess of regulated cost targets can be added to the RAB.  (There is also a similar incentive for 
out-performance.)  Network  Rail measures enhancement performance against the Hendy baseline of cost re-forecasts which followed the 2016 
Hendy review into CP5 projects, and after allowing for an agreed change process with governments and ORR, in both assessing PPE valuation 
and in the regulatory financial statements. This is the benchmark that a third party would use in assessing the valuation of the railway network. 
As the railway network is measured at fair value it follows that the anticipated proceeds from any future disposals would be closely related to this 
value.

At 31 March 2017 the valuation included £1,308m (2016: £726m) of projected financial underperformance, which is expected to crystallise in 
the income statement or result in the ineligibility of additions to the RAB in future accounting periods. The downwards movement of £582m on 
the prior year variances is mostly due to:

i) projected increased financing costs arising from the effect of higher inflation assumptions on RPI-linked bonds (expectation is still for a 
favourable variance against regulatory determination, but more weakly than previously forecast); and
ii) an increase in the expected level of opex spending between 2017 and 2019, reflecting a number of factors including reforecasting of 
staff numbers and costs .

The most significant areas of projected under performance are renewals (£383m), operating expenditure (£834m), income (£145m), and 
enhancements (£80m) offset by  projected outperformance on financing costs (£137m) as a result of favourable interest rate movements, after 
allowing for the impact of inflation increases on RPI-linked bonds.

The areas of performance subject to greatest estimation uncertainty are renewals and enhancements due to the complexities of forecasting 
cost and volume outcomes, and the Anticipated Final Cost of projects respectively.

The group estimates that a one per cent increase in the Anticipated Final Cost of enhancement projects would result in additional financial 
underperformance of £22m, and a one  per cent increase in the unit cost of renewals would result in additional financial underperformance of 
£13m.

Critical judgements
The valuation includes the following critical judgements:

a)	 The regulatory framework and associated cash flows remain sufficiently stable and robust to form the basis of a third party valuation.

b)	The ORR has committed to providing a market cost of capital return to a conventionally funded owner and operator of the network and 
the fair value calculation has been prepared on that basis. 

c)	 Management’s assessment of the deliverability of the current regulatory determination is a good indication of how other management 
groups would perform against the determination.

d)	The deliverability of the current 5-year regulatory determination does not have any implication for the deliverability of future 
determinations (i.e. the ambition of the regulator at the start of each Control Period is to set the regulatory determination at a level which is 
challenging but achievable).

e) The regulator will take action following any significant future disposal of assets, such as investment property, to reduce Network Rail’s 
rights under the RAB, but to a level where the effect on future cash flows is equal to the proceeds Network Rail is permitted to retain from 
the disposals . 
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12. Property, plant and equipment – the railway network continued 
f) The weighted average remaining asset lives have been increased from 30 years to 40 years.  IAS 16 requires that management regularly 
review asset lives; on at least an annual basis and that that depreciation is charged on a systematic basis that reflects the way the asset is 
consumed. Network Rail produces a detailed and rigorous depreciated replacement cost (DRC) valuation of the railway network for 
inclusion in DfT’s group accounts. In preparing these accounts management reviewed the weighted average remaining asset lives as 
produced in the DRC valuation and have therefore reflected this in these accounts.

At 31 March 2017, the group had entered into contractual commitments in respect of capital expenditure amounting to £3,505m 
(2016: £2,807m).

13. Investment property
 

Group
£m

Fair value
At 1 April 2015 982
Additions 25
Disposals (6)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (6)
Increase in fair value in the year 114
At 31 March 2016 1,109
Additions 18
Disposals (27)
Increase in fair value in the year 131
At 31 March 2017 1,231

The market values of the group’s investment properties at 31 March 2017 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at that 
date with Jones Lang LaSalle, external valuers not connected with the group. The fair value of the group’s investment property portfolio is 
deemed to be the market value.

The valuation, which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by splitting the portfolio between one-off individual 
properties to be valued separately and the remainder of the portfolio to be valued under the Beacon method. 

Jones Lang LaSalle provided independent valuations of 17 one-off individual properties (2016: 17), amounting to 12 per cent (2016: 15 per 
cent) of the total valuation. The balance of the estate was valued under the Beacon method by splitting the portfolio into 13 homogeneous 
classes  (2016: 13) of property and areas, assuming that the current passing rent received from these properties are in line with market rent. 
Jones Lang LaSalle independently assessed the appropriate yield to be adopted within each of these classes and areas. This enabled the 
directors to estimate market values by applying the provided yields to the net rental income from these properties, in accordance with a 
standard UK investment property valuation.

The property rental income earned by the group from its investment property, all of which is leased out under operating leases, amounted 
to £90m (2016: £88m). Direct operating expenses arising on the investment properties in the year amounted to £6m (2016: £6m).

The group’s investment properties are let on a tenant repairing basis. The group’s maintenance obligations are limited to common areas 
and vacant property units.
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14. Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Principal subsidiaries affecting the amounts shown in the financial statements are included in the list below.

Principal subsidiaries Country of incorporation

Proportion of all  
classes of issued 
share capital owned Principal activities

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Great Britain 100% Operation, maintenance and renewal 
of the national railway infrastructure

Network Rail Insurance Limited Guernsey 100% Insurance
Network Rail Holdco Limited* Great Britain 100% Holding company of Network Rail 

Infrastructure Limited
Network Rail (High Speed) Limited Great Britain 100% Holds St Pancras concession and High 

Speed Railway Services Agreement
Network Rail Development Limited Great Britain 100% Holds 49.95% of each of the property 

joint ventures Solum Regeneration 
Limited Partnership and Solum 
Regeneration Epsom Limited 
Partnership 

Network Rail Pension Trustee Limited Great Britain Company limited 
by guarantee

Administration of defined contribution 
and CARE defined benefit pension 
schemes 

Network Rail Consulting Limited Great Britain 100% International rail consultancy
Network Rail Certification Body Limited Great Britain 100% Conformity assessment services  

to the rail industry
Network Rail (VY1) Limited Great Britain 100% Holds land required for works access
Network Rail (VY2) Limited Great Britain 100% Holds land required for works access

Shares held by a trustee
Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC Great Britain Shares held by HSBC

Trustee (C.I.) Limited
Issuer of the Debt Issuance 
Programme

*	 Directly owned by Network Rail Limited company.

The shares in Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC are held by HSBC Trustee (C.I.) Limited, for charitable purposes. The sole purpose of 
this company is to act as a special purpose funding vehicle. The company is treated as a subsidiary for accounting purposes as proceeds 
from debt issuances are lent on to Network Rail Infrastructure Limited and are used to finance the activities and to refinance the existing 
debt of the group.

Joint ventures Country of incorporation

Proportion of all  
classes of issued 
share capital owned Principal activities

Solum Regeneration (GP) Limited Great Britain 50% Holds 0.1% of the property joint 
venture Solum Regeneration Limited 
Partnership

Solum Regeneration Epsom (GP) Limited Great Britain 50% Holds 0.1% of the property joint 
venture Solum Regeneration (Epsom) 
Limited Partnership

Solum Regeneration Limited Partnership Great Britain 50% Property development
Solum Regeneration (Epsom) Limited 
Partnership

Great Britain 50% Property development

Solum Regeneration Christchurch LLP Great Britain 50% Property development

The Station Office Network LLP Great Britain 50% Provides flexible office space, meeting 
rooms and virtual offices

West Hampstead Limited Partnership Great Britain 50% Property development
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14. Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures continued

 

2017 
Group

£m 

2016 
Group

£m 

At 1 April 35 42
Investment in joint venutures 2 7
Provision for investment in joint ventures – (22)
Share of  profit/(loss) (4) 8
At 31 March 33 35

15. Inventories

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016 
Group 

£m

Raw materials and consumables 191 205

As at 31 March 2017 a provision of £23m was held in respect of inventories (2016: £24m).
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16. Trade and other receivables

Non-current assets: other receivables

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Regulatory income receivable 37 73 – –

Current assets: trade and other receivables

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Trade receivables 298 348 – –
Capital grants receivable 132 120 – –
Other taxation and social security 130 122 – –
Other receivables 66 71 – –
Collateral placed with banking counterparties 625 819
Prepayments and accrued income 211 240 – –
 1,462 1,720 – –

Trade receivables include an allowance for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the supply of services of £14m (2016: £13m).  
This allowance has been made by reference to past default experience. Average debtor days were 63 days (2016: 57 days). 

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value. All balances are non-interest 
bearing and denominated in sterling. The group provides fully for receivables overdue by over six months because historical experience is 
that such receivables are generally not recoverable. All other trade receivables are provided for on the basis of estimated irrecoverable 
amounts, determined by reference to past default experience.

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. Around 95 per cent of the group’s income is received from train 
operating companies and in the form of revenue grants from Government. Franchises are issued to train operating companies by the 
Department for Transport in England and Wales and Transport Scotland in Scotland. The group believes that amounts receivable from 
Government and the train operating companies represent a high level of credit quality. This is because in the extraordinary circumstance 
that a train operating company were to be unable to meet its obligations then provisions in the franchise agreements allow the 
Department for Transport to take over services at any time. Before accepting any other new customer, the group uses an external  
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality.

Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are amounts totalling £37m (2016: £30m) which are past due at the reporting date for 
which the group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable. The group does not hold collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 25 days (2016: 64 days).

The following table shows the age of financial assets for the group which are past due and for which no specific provision has been raised:
2017

Group
£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Past due by 1 – 28 days 16 17 – –
Past due by 29 – 56 days 12 5 – –
Past due by 57 – 84 days 3 2 – –
Past due by 85 – 180 days 6 6 – –

37 30 – –

Trade receivables of £11m (2016: £10m) are overdue by six months or more, and have been fully provided for.
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17. Trade and other payables

Current liabilities: trade and other payables

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Trade payables 614 652 – –
Collateral received from banking counterparties 259 330 – –
Payments received on account 34 28 – –
Other payables 1,601 307 – –
Other interest accruals 261 251 – –
Other accruals and deferred income 1,453 1,797 – –
 4,222 3,365 – –

Other payables increased significantly during the year due to £1,270m relating to Crossrail funding becoming repayable within one year.

The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 30 days (2016: 31 days).

Before accepting new suppliers, and upon letting significant contracts, the group evaluates suppliers’ creditworthiness using external credit 
scoring systems and other relevant data.

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value. All balances are ordinarily 
non-interest bearing and denominated in sterling.

Non-current liabilities: other payables

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Capital grants deferred income 3,665 3,300 – –
Other payables 300 1,496 – –
 3,965 4,796 – –
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18. Borrowings
2017

Group
£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Net borrowings by instrument:
Cash and cash equivalents* 942 1,191 – – 
Collateral placed with counterparties 625 819 – – 
Collateral received from counterparties (259) (330) – – 
Bank loans (479) (477) – – 
Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  
(less unamortised premium, discount and fees) (27,046) (28,869) – – 
Borrowings issued by the Department for Transport (20,037) (13,940) – –

(46,254) (41,606) – – 
Movement in net borrowings:
At the beginning of the year (41,606) (37,759) – – 
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (249) 878 – – 
Proceeds from borrowings (6,094) (7,500) – – 
Repayments of borrowings 2,393 3,070 – – 
Capital accretion (449) (221) – – 
Exchange differences 42 (3) – – 
Movement in collateral placed with counterparties (194) 93 – –
Movement in collateral received from counterparties 71 (80) – –
Fair value and other movements (168) (84) – – 
At the end of the year (46,254) (41,606) – – 

Net borrowings are reconciled to the balance sheet as set out below:
Cash and cash equivalents* 942 1,191 – – 
Collateral placed with counterparties (included in trade and other receivables) 625 819 – –
Collateral received from counterparties (included in trade and other payables) (259) (330) – –
Borrowings included in current liabilities (3,396) (2,685) – – 
Borrowings included in non-current liabilities (44,166) (40,601) – – 

(46,254) (41,606) – – 

*	 Includes collateral received from derivative counterparties of £259m (2016: £330m).
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18. Borrowings continued
2017

Group
£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

1.085% sterling index linked bond due 2052  129 126 – –
0% sterling index linked bond due 2052  137 133 – –
1.003% sterling index linked bond due 2051  24 24 – –
0.53% sterling index linked bond due 2051  124 121 – –
0.517% sterling index linked bond due 2051  125 121 – –
0% sterling index linked bond due 2051  138 133 – –
0.678% sterling index linked bond due 2048  122 119 – –
1.125% sterling index linked bond due 2047  5,366 5,245 – –
0% sterling index linked bond due 2047  87 83 – –
1.1335% sterling index linked bond due 2045  50 49 – –
1.5646% sterling index linked bond due 2044  279 274 – –
1.1565% sterling index linked bond due 2043  56 55 – –
1.1795% sterling index linked bond due 2041  69  67 – –
1.2219% sterling index linked bond due 2040  275  270 – –
1.2025% sterling index linked bond due 2039  75  73 – –
4.6535% sterling bond due 2038  100  100 – –
1.375% sterling index linked bond due 2037  5,247  5,122 – –
4.75% sterling bond due 2035  1,230  1,229 – –
1.6492% sterling index linked bond due 2035  418  410 – –
4.375% sterling bond due 2030  871  871 – –
1.75% sterling index linked bond due 2027  5,157  5,056 – –
4.615% Norwegian krone bond due 2026*  56  52 – –
4.57% Norwegian krone bond due 2026*  16  15 – –
1.9618% sterling index linked bond due 2025  353  346 – –
4.75% sterling bond due 2024  738  736 – –
3% sterling bond due 2023  398  397 
2.76% Swiss franc bond due 2021  238  217 – –
2.315% Japanese yen bond due 2021*  78  69 – –
2.28% Japanese yen bond due 2021*  77  69 – –
2.15% Japanese yen bond due 2021*  78  69 – – 
4.625% sterling bond due 2020  999  998 – –
1.75% US dollar bond due 2019**  797  710 – –
0.875% US dollar bond due 2018**  1,394  1,216 – –
0.75% US dollar bond due 2017**  996  865 – –
1% sterling bond due 2017  749  748 – –
Floating rate US dollar bond due 2017**  –   347 – –
6% Australian dollar bond due 2016  –  267 – –
0.625% US dollar bond due 2016**  –  868 – –
1.25% US dollar bond due 2016** –  696 – –
1.125% sterling bond due 2016* –   503 – –
 27,046 28,869 – –

*	 Bonds treated as fair value through profit and loss. 
**	Bonds in a fair value hedge arrangement. 
All other bonds are shown net of unamortised discount and fees.
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18. Borrowings continued
Bank loans are analysed as follows:

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Index-linked European Investment Bank due 2036 (£229m) and 2037 (£226m) 467 459 – –
Barclays Bank due 2017 repayable by instalments 12 18 – –
 479 477 – –

At 31 March 2017 and 2016 the group had the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities:
2017

Drawn
£m

2017
Undrawn

£m

2017
Total

£m 

2016
Drawn

£m

2016
Undrawn

£m

2016
Total

£m 

Department for Transport loan facility 20,050 10,825 30,875 13,950 16,925 30,875
20,050 10,825 30,875 13,950 16,925 30,875

Undrawn committed facilities expire as follows:

 

2017
Group

£m 

2016
Group

£m

Within one year – –
Within two to five years 10,825 16,925
After five years – –
 10,825 16,925

On 4 July 2014 the Secretary of State for Transport provided the group with a loan facility of £30,875m expiring on 31 March 2019. On 
1 September 2015 the group terminated its standby facility A. In addition the Secretary of State for Transport has provided unlimited 
financial indemnity in respect of borrowings under the Debt Issuance Programme which expires in 2052.
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19. Derivative financial instruments
2017

Group

 
Fair value

£m

Notional
amounts

£m

Derivative financial instrument assets
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme 153 128

Forward starting interest rate swaps – –

Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme 671 2,513

Non-hedge accounted derivatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  120  198 
Interest rate swaps  156 9,144 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2 43 

 1,102 12,026

Included in non-current assets  864  9,027
Included in current assets 238 2,999 

1,102 12,026

Derivative financial instrument liabilities
Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps  (26)  130 
Forward starting interest rate swaps  (636)  5,696

Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme – –

Non-hedge accounted derivatives
Interest rate swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (864) 12,100
Forward foreign exchange contracts  (3) 48 
 (1,529) 17,974

Included in current liabilities  (1)  34 
Included in non-current liabilities  (1,528)  17,940 

(1,529) 17,974
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19. Derivative financial instruments continued
2016

Group

 
Fair value

£m

Notional
amounts

£m

Derivative financial instrument assets
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme 217 331
Forward starting interest rate swaps – –

Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme 505 4,198

Non-hedge accounted derivatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  93  198 
Interest rate swaps  141 7,521 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 7  109 
 963 12,357

Included in non-current assets  654  9,910 
Included in current assets 309 2,447 

963 12,357

Derivative financial instrument liabilities
Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps  (39)  333 
Forward starting interest rate swaps  (826)  9,241

Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme – –

Non-hedge accounted derivatives
Interest rate swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (541)  7,476
Forward foreign exchange contracts  (2)  44 
 (1,408) 17,094

Included in current liabilities  (9)  222 
Included in non-current liabilities  (1,399)  16,872 

(1,408) 17,094
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20. Provisions
 

Legal 
£m

Restructuring 
£m

Other 
£m

Total 
£m

At 1 April 2016 1 - 70 71
Charge for the year - - 16 16
Utilised in the year - - (8) (8)
Release for the year - - (15) (15)
At 31 March 2017 1 - 63 64

Included in current liabilities 64

The group has also provided against a number of claims arising from interpretations of legal contracts or past events for which settlement is 
expected to be achieved in the next year, but could be deferred to future years depending on the legal interpretation of rights and 
responsibilities under the contracts as well as commercial negotiation. The provisions that have been recorded represent the directors’ best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, with the benefit of legal advice.

Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.  
The nature of these claims means that there is some uncertainty with regard to the value that they will be settled at. If the outcomes of the 
claims are different to the assumptions underpinning the directors’ best estimates then a further liability may arise.

Contingent liability
Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.
The nature of these claims means that there is some uncertainty with regard to the value that they will be settled at. If the outcomes of
the claims are different to the assumptions underpinning the directors’ best estimates then a further liability may arise.

The group’s lawyers have advised that the provisions for the claims are realistic and no provision has been made for contingent liabilities
as the directors do not consider there is any probable loss. As envisaged by paragraph 92 of IAS 37 the directors consider that further
disclosure regarding the nature and amount of the disputes beyond that disclosed here could be expected to prejudice seriously the
position of the group.

21. Deferred tax
The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and movement thereon during the current and prior year.

Group

Accelerated
tax

depreciation
£m

Revaluation
of railway

network
£m

Short-term 
timing 

differences 
including 

retirement
 benefit 

obligations
£m

Derivatives
£m

Tax losses
£m

Total
£m

At 31 March 2015 2,751 759 (304) 24 – 3,230
(Credit)/charge to income (19) – (1) (31) 178  127 
(Credit)/charge to other comprehensive income – (76) 18 (38) – (96)
Impact of change in tax rate to income (262) – 19 (2) 64 (181)
Impact of change in tax rate to equity – (75) 11 17 – (47)
De-recognition of deferred tax asset to equity – – – 21 –  21 
Utilisation of losses previously derecognised – – – (4) (242) (246)
At 31 March 2016 2,470 608 (257) (13) –  2,808 
(Credit)/charge to income 75 – (18) (9) –  48 
(Credit)/charge to other comprehensive income – (204) (115) (3) – (322)
Impact of change in tax rate to income (134) – 10 1 33 (90)
Impact of change in tax rate to equity – (14) (15) 10 – (19)
Transfer between reserves – (344) 344 – – –
De-recognition of deferred tax asset to income – – – – 1 1
De-recognition of deferred tax asset to equity – – – (7) – (7) 
Utilisation of losses previously derecognised – – – – (34) (34)
At 31 March 2017 2,411 46 (51) (21) –  2,385 
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21. Deferred tax continued 
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the gross deferred tax balances:

 
2017

£m 
2016

£m

Deferred tax liabilities 2,457 3,078
Deferred tax assets (72) (270)

2,385 2,808

Under IAS 12 deferred tax assets can only be recognised where it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deferred 
tax asset can be utilised. During the year Network Rail has derecognised the deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses and derivatives.  
Deferred tax assets in respect of current year losses on derivatives of £21m has been derecognised.

22. Notes to the statement of cash flows
2017

Group
£m 

2016
Group

£m 

2017
Company

£m 

2016
Company

£m

Profit before tax 483 411 – –
Adjustments for:
Property revaluation movements and profits on disposal (195) (183) – –
Fair value loss on derivatives and debt 21 65 – –
Net interest expense 1,687 1,314 – –
Depreciation of the railway network 1,515 1,876 – –
Amortisation of capital grants (88) (97) – –
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 – – –
Movement in retirement benefit obligations 47 (36) – –
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (7) 21 – –
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 3,464 3,371 – –

Increase/(decrease) in inventories 14 (7) – –
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 101 (114) – –
(Decrease)/increase in payables (167) 163 – –
Cash generated from operations 3,412 3,413 – –

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents (which are represented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet) comprise cash at bank, 
collateral, commercial paper and money market deposit investments, all of which are on call with the exception of short-term deposits. 
There were £368m of short term deposits held as at 31 March 2017 with an average term of 3 days from the balance sheet date (2016:  
£363m of short term deposits with an average term of 22 days). Cash and money market deposits had an average maturity of 52 days (2016: 
48 days) from the balance sheet date.
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23. Operating lease arrangements

The group as lessee

2017
Group 

£m 

2016
Group 

£m

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in 
the income statement in the year 36 58

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases, which fall due as follows:

 

2017 
Group

£m 

2016 
Group

£m 

Within one year 33 41
In the second to fifth years inclusive 81 80
After five years 115 117
 229 238

Operating lease payments largely represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for an 
average term of seven years and rentals fixed for an average of three years. In addition rentals are paid for land adjacent to the railway 
required for maintenance and renewal activities.

The group as lessor
Operating lease rentals earned in the year by the group were £391m (2016: £341m). This amount includes property rental income of £293m 
(2016: £274m), as disclosed in Note 3.

At the balance sheet date, the group had contracted with customers for the following future minimum lease payments:

 

2017 
Group

£m 

2016 
Group

£m 

Within one year 426 284
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,024 1,119
After five years 2,029 2,468
 3,479 3,871
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24. Funding and financial risk management
Introduction
The group is almost entirely debt financed. Debt has been issued through the special purpose financing company Network Rail 
Infrastructure Finance PLC, which is not a member of the Network Rail Limited group, but is treated as a subsidiary for accounting purposes. 
The majority of the group’s existing debt has been issued by Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC under the Debt Issuance Programme 
which is rated AA by Standard and Poor’s, Aa1 (outlook negative) by Moody’s and AA (outlook negative) by Fitch. The Debt Issuance 
Programme is supported by a financial indemnity from the Secretary of State for Transport which expires in 2052.

Debt has been issued in a number of currencies and a range of maturities which gives rise to interest rate, foreign currency and inflation 
risk. Financial risk management aims to mitigate these risks.

Reclassification of Network Rail
In December 2013, the Office for National Statistics announced the reclassification of Network Rail as a Central Government Body in the UK 
National Accounts and Public Sector Finances with effect from 1 September 2014. This is a statistical change driven by new guidance in the 
European System of National Accounts 2010 (ESA10).

As part of Network Rail’s formal reclassification to the public sector, an arrangement was agreed whereby funding would be provided by 
the DfT in the form of a loan made directly to Network Rail Infrastructure Limited, to fund the continuing programme of long-term 
investment in the national rail network. Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC does not anticipate issuing further bonds in the foreseeable 
future and its debt service obligations would be met through repayments of the intercompany loan by Network Rail Infrastructure Limited.

All of the outstanding bonds under the Debt Issuance Programme, including nominal and index-linked benchmarks and private 
placements in all currencies, will continue to benefit from the direct and explicit guarantee from the UK Government under the 
Financial Indemnity Mechanism. In the unlikely event that the DfT withdraws or breaches its obligations on the loan facility to Network Rail 
the group may issue further bonds or commercial paper to meet funding requirements.

Externally imposed capital requirements
The Network Rail group is almost entirely debt financed and therefore manages its debt as the key part of its capital. Network Rail manages 
its debt in relation to the Regulatory Asset Base (RAB). This is an important business ratio because the value of the RAB and the amount of 
debt that the business can sustain are, generally speaking, closely related. Network Rail’s debt cannot exceed the value of the RAB; a debt to 
RAB ratio of significantly less than 100 per cent indicates that the business is more robust to future cost shocks (because it is more likely to 
be able to service additional debt that may arise from losses incurred).
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued
The RAB and regulatory debt are reconciled to property, plant and equipment (in Note 12) and net debt (in Note 18) as follows:

 
2017

£m 
2016

£m 

Net debt per Note 18 (46,254) (41,606)
Revaluations and remeasurements 1,462 1,428
Regulatory net debt (44,792) (40,178)

The RAB used to calculate the debt to RAB ratio is:
 

2017
£m 

2016
£m 

Railway network per Note 12 62,730 58,532
Investment properties per Note 13 1,231 1,109
Capital grant funded assets (3,525) (3,168)
Other fair value adjustments 1,317 704
RAB 61,753 57,177

The debt to RAB ratio at 31 March 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
 2017 2016

Debt: RAB ratio 72.5% 70.3%

The debt to RAB ratio is based on regulatory net debt, which recognises debt at hedged rates. 

The group’s subsidiary, Network Rail Infrastructure Limited, owns and operates Britain’s rail network under licence from the ORR. The 
licence imposes conditions on the company with regard to its net debt. Should the value of the company’s qualifying net debt exceed 
75 per cent of the ORR’s RAB then the ORR will be formally notified.
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued
Summary table of financial assets and liabilities
The following table presents the carrying amounts and the fair values of the group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2017  
and 31 March 2016.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are recorded at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a  
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were  
used to estimate the fair values where balances were not already held at fair value:

•	 Bank loans – based on market data at the balance sheet date and the net present value of discounted cash flows 

•	 Certain bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme – based on market data at the balance sheet date. Where market data  
is not available valuations have been obtained from dealing banks.

For cash and cash equivalents, finance lease receivables, trade and other payables and trade and other receivables, fair value equates  
to carrying value.

2017 2016

Group

Carrying 
value

£m 

Fair 
value

£m

Carrying 
value

£m 

Fair 
value

£m

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents as loans and receivables 942 942 1,191 1,191

Other non-derivative financial assets
Finance lease receivables - - 1 1
Investment property 1,231 1,231 1,109 1,109
Plant, property and equipment - the railway network 62,730 62,730 58,532 58,532
Trade and other receivables (less prepayments and accrued income and  
other taxation and social security) 1,158 1,158 1,430 1,430

Derivatives
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments  153  153  217  217 
Derivatives designated as fair value hedging instruments  671  671  505  505
Other derivatives as fair value through profit and loss 278 278 241 241
Total derivatives 1,102 1,102 963 963

Total financial assets 67,163 67,163 63,226 63,226

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Bank loans  (479)  (839)  (477)  (766)
Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (26,742)  (31,975)  (28,093)  (31,649)
Borrowings issued by Department for Transport  (20,037)  (20,370)  (13,940)  (14,293)

Financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit and loss
Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme (304) (304) (776) (776)
Total borrowing (47,562) (53,488) (43,286) (47,484)

Trade and other payables at amortised cost (4,306) (4,306) (4,616) (4,616)

Derivatives
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments (662) (662) (865) (865)
Derivatives designated as fair value hedging instruments – – – –
Other derivatives as fair value through profit and loss (867) (867) (543) (543)
Total derivatives (1,529) (1,529) (1,408) (1,408)

Total financial liabilities (53,397) (59,323) (49,310) (53,508)

127

Cm 946 v0_1.pdf   132 17/07/2017   11:58



NETWORK RAIL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

                                        FIN
A

N
CIA

L STATEM
EN

TS �

24. Funding and financial risk management continued
Derivatives
The group (including the group’s special purpose financing company, Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC) uses derivative financial 
instruments to reduce exposure to foreign exchange risk and interest rate movements. The group does not use derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes. Certain derivatives are designated as hedges, and those derivatives that are not hedge accounted  
are fair valued immediately through the income statement. The group has a comprehensive risk management process. 

The board, through a treasury sub-committee (the treasury committee), has approved and monitors the risk management processes, 
including documented treasury policies, counterparty limits, controlling and reporting structures.

The use of derivative instruments can give rise to credit and market risk. Market risk is the possibility that future changes in foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates may make a derivative more or less valuable. Since the group uses derivatives for risk management, 
market risk relating to derivative instruments will principally be offset by changes in the valuation of the underlying assets, liabilities or 
transactions being hedged.

Credit risk
The credit risk for all classes of derivative financial instruments and other funds is limited because counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. The treasury committee authorises the policy for setting counterparty limits based 
on credit ratings. The group spreads its exposure over a number of counterparties, and has strict policies on how much exposure can be 
assigned to each counterparty. The amount of the group’s investments varies depending on the level of surplus liquidity the group chooses 
to hold at any point in time. However, because of the strict criteria governing counterparty suitability the risk is mitigated. The treasury 
committee also authorises the investment and borrowing instruments that can be used.

For debt designated as fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) there has been no change in carrying value as a result of changes in  
the group’s credit risk. The loss in the income statement arising from the remeasurement of FVTPL debt items of £46m (2016: £15m loss) are 
all attributable to changes in market risk.

The credit risk with regard to all classes of derivative financial instruments entered into before 1 January 2013 is limited because Network 
Rail has arrangements in place which limit each bank to a threshold (based on credit ratings), which if breached requires the bank to post 
collateral in cash or eligible securities. The members of the banking group are required to post collateral on positive mark to market swaps 
above the threshold. In December 2012 the group entered into new collateral agreements in respect of derivative trades entered into after 
1 January 2013. Under the terms of the new agreements Network Rail posts collateral on adverse net derivative positions with its 
counterparties. The new agreements do not contain a provision for thresholds; as such Network Rail or its counterparties are required to 
post collateral for the full fair value of net out of the money positions. At 31 March 2017 the fair value of collateral held was £259m 
(2016: £330m). The group is the beneficial owner of this collateral. The group is free to invest or otherwise utilise the collateral at  
its discretion, subject to acting within the authority sanctioned by the treasury committee. The balance of collateral posted by the group  
at 31 March 2017 was £625m (2016: £819m).

The group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty and has considered the creditworthiness of debtors. 
For further detail on the creditworthiness of customers and suppliers, see Notes 16 (Trade and other receivables) and 17 (Trade and 
other payables).

The group considers its maximum exposure to credit risk to be the sum of its financial assets as set out on page 127.

Foreign exchange risk
Network Rail is exposed to currency risks from its investing, financing and operating activities. Foreign exchange risk for all currencies is 
managed by the use of forward exchange contracts and currency swaps to limit the effects of movements in exchange rates on foreign 
currency denominated liabilities.

It is estimated that a general increase of ten percentage points in the value of any currency against sterling would have no material effect 
on the group’s profit before tax or equity due to all currency positions being 100 per cent hedged and therefore no sensitivity analysis 
is produced.
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued
Interest rate and inflation risk 
The group is exposed to changes in interest rates as funds are borrowed at both fixed and floating interest rates. The hedging strategy 
approved by the treasury committee defines the appropriate mix between fixed and floating borrowings. Cross-currency and interest rate 
swap contracts are used to manage the fixed/floating ratio.

Debt with a carrying value of £21,373m (2016: £38,222m) is arranged at or swapped into fixed interest rates and exposes the group 
to fair value interest rate risk. Other borrowings were arranged at or swapped into floating rates, thus exposing the group to cash flow 
interest rate risk.

The group has forward starting interest rate swaps with a notional value of £5,696m which hedge the interest rate on forecast borrowings in 
CP5. The weighted average rate on these swaps is 3.30 per cent. 

The group has certain debt issuances which are index-linked and so are exposed to movements in inflation rates. The group does not enter 
into any derivative arrangements to hedge its exposure to inflation in relation to its index-linked debt, but rather to mitigate the effects of 
inflation on the group’s retail price index-linked revenue streams.

Sensitivity analysis
This sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates and inflation for both derivative and non-derivative 
financial instruments at the balance sheet date. A one per cent increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible changes in average interest rates and inflation.

Group 
31 March 2017

Group 
31 March 2016

Impact on 
the income

statement
£m 

Impact on
equity

£m

Impact on 
the income

statement
£m 

Impact on
equity

£m

1% increase in the interest rate (726) (159) (1,188) (366)
1% increase in the GBP RPI on index linked bonds (182) – (171) –

A one per cent decrease in the above rates would have an equal and opposite effect.

Interest rate sensitivities have been calculated by comparing the average rates of the derivative financial instruments to the market rate  
for similar instruments.

The impact of a change in GBP RPI has been calculated by applying a change of one per cent to the RPI at the balance sheet date to the 
carrying value of the index linked bonds.

The group believes that the above analysis is unrepresentative of the risks inherent in issuing index-linked debt. Franchised track access 
and grant income constitute £5,885m (2016: £5,742m) of revenue which is far in excess of an index-linked interest expense of £239m 
(2016: £239m). Currently, these sources of income are contractually index-linked and, whilst there is no absolute contractual guarantee  
for future regulatory control periods that this will continue, the group is highly confident that this will continue to be the case. Therefore, 
the natural hedge that exists between finance costs and revenue mitigates the risk of RPI movements.
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued
Liquidity risk management
The ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors. The policy manual ratified by the treasury 
committee includes an appropriate liquidity risk management framework covering the group’s short, medium and long-term funding 
and liquidity management requirements. The Treasury funding is subject to regular internal audits. Treasury provides sufficient liquidity to 
meet the group’s needs, while reducing financial risks and prudently maximising interest receivable and minimising credit risk on surplus 
cash.

The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and facilities to cover at least one year’s working capital requirement 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. Included in Note 19 is a description of additional undrawn facilities that  
the group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

The following table details the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up on the 
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group can be required to pay and, therefore, differs 
from both the carrying value and the fair value. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Group
Within 1 year

£m 
1-2 years

£m
2-5 years

£m
5+ years

£m 
Total

£m 

31 March 2017
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts  (17)  -  (10)  (527)  (554)

Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme
– Sterling denominated bonds  (971)  (214)  (1,595)  (5,149)  (7,929)
– Sterling denominated index-linked bonds  (155)  (155)  (464)  (20,612)  (21,386)
– Foreign currency denominated bonds  (1,055)  (2,237)  (535)  (979)  (4,806)

Loan from the Department for Transport  (2,117)  (3,290)  (13,910)  (2,240)  (21,557)

Trade and other payables  (2,443)  (1,570)  -  -  (4,013)

Derivative financial liabilities
Net settled derivative contracts  (160)  (280)  (916)  (409)  (1,765)
Gross settled derivative contracts – receipts  1,040  2,225  964  146  4,375 
Gross settled derivative contracts – payments  (794)  (1,764)  (276)  (61)  (2,895)

 (6,672)  (7,285) (16,742) (29,831) (60,529)

Group
Within 1 year

£m 
1-2 years

£m
2-5 years

£m
5+ years

£m 
Total

£m 

31 March 2016
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts  (10)  (20)  (11)  (545)  (586)

Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme
– Sterling denominated bonds  (709)  (954)  (1,589)  (4,873)  (8,125)
– Sterling denominated index-linked bonds  (241)  (248)  (790)  (39,485)  (40,764)
– Foreign currency denominated bonds  (2,253)  (912)  (1,970)  (482)  (5,617)

Loan from the Department for Transport  (368)  (1,999)  (11,719)  (1,277)  (15,363)

Trade and other payables  (2,735)  (1,630) – –  (4,365)

Derivative financial liabilities
Net settled derivative contracts  (90)  (152)  (493)  (249)  (984)
Gross settled derivative contracts – receipts  2,252  909  1,970  482  5,613 
Gross settled derivative contracts – payments  (1,921)  (797)  (1,769)  (337)  (4,824)

 (6,075)  (5,803)  (16,371)  (46,766)  (75,015)
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Group

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets
£m

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

liabilities set off in
 the balance sheet

£m

Net amount of 
financial assets 

presented in the  
balance sheet

£m

Related amounts not set off in the 
balance sheet

Net amount
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m

Cash collateral 
received

£m

31 March 2017
Derivative financial assets 1,102 – 1,102 (868) (9) 225

Group

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets
£m

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

liabilities set off in
 the balance sheet

£m

Net amount of 
financial assets 

presented in the  
balance sheet

£m

Related amounts not set off in the 
balance sheet

Net amount
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m

Cash collateral 
received

£m

31 March 2016
Derivative financial assets 963 – 963 (693) (257) 13

Financial liabilities
The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Group

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial liabilities
£m

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

assets set off in 
the balance sheet

£m

Net amount of 
financial liabilities 

presented in the 
balance sheet

£m

Related amounts not set off in the 
balance sheet

Net amount
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m

Cash collateral 
paid

£m

31 March 2017
Derivative financial liabilities (1,529) – (1,529) 868 375 (286)

Group

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial liabilities
£m

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

assets set off in 
the balance sheet

£m

Net amount of 
financial liabilities 

presented in the 
balance sheet

£m

Related amounts not set off in the 
balance sheet

Net amount
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m

Cash collateral 
paid

£m

31 March 2016
Derivative financial liabilities (1,408) – (1,408) 693 715 –

Cash flow hedges
Contractual payments on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges impact the income statement and will all have matured by 2027.

Borrowings 
Details of the group’s undrawn committed facilities and types of debt instrument used can be found in Note 18.
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued
Fair value measurements recognised in the balance sheets
The following table provides an analysis of instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into 
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

•	 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•	 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

•	 �Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2017

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m 

Total
£m 

Property, plant and equipment – the railway network – – 62,730  62,730 
Investment properties –  –  1,231  1,231 
Derivative financial assets –  1,102  –  1,102 
Financial assets held at amortised cost –  2,100  –  2,100 
Assets – 3,202 63,961  67,163 

Derivative financial liabilities –  (1,529) –  (1,529)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss  (304) – –  (304)
Financial liabilities designated at amortised cost  (31,310)  (26,180) –  (57,490)
Liabilities  (31,614)  (27,709) –  (59,323)

Total  (31,614)  (24,507) 63,961  7,840

2016

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m 

Total
£m 

Property, plant and equipment – the railway network – –  58,532  58,532 
Investment properties –  –  1,109  1,109 
Derivative financial assets –  963  –  963 
Financial assets held at amortised cost –  2,622  –  2,622 
Assets – 3,585 59,641  63,226 

Derivative financial liabilities –  (1,408) –  (1,408)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss  (776) – –  (776)
Financial liabilities designated at amortised cost  (30,619)  (20,705) –  (51,324)
Liabilities  (31,395)  (22,113)  -  (53,508)

Total  (31,395)  (18,528)  59,641  9,718 

The fair value of level 2 derivatives is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows using appropriate yield curves based on quoted 
market rates as at the current financial year end.
A review of the categorisation of the assets and liabilities into the three levels is made at each reporting date. There were no transfers 
between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements in the current or prior 
years.

Property, plant and equipment
We have classified the valuation of the rail network as Level 3. As explained in note 12, the network’s fair value is the estimated future cash 
flows that will be generated in perpetuity, discounted at the regulatory cost of capital, as set by the ORR in its Periodic Review. The cost of 
capital at which cash flows are discounted is the key unobservable input in the valuation. The full market cost of capital determined by the 
ORR is 4.31% for the current control period, arrived at through advice from consultants, comparisons to similar infrastructure assets and 
discussions with Network Rail.
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24. Funding and financial risk management continued 
An increase in the market cost of capital would lead to a decrease in the valuation of the rail network and vice versa. However, the impact 
would be limited to the current control period as the regulator would re-evaluate the allowed return and reset it to the market rate at the 
next quinquennial review. 

Investment properties
Property valuations are by their nature subjective, as they are made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer. They too have been 
classified as Level 3 and the key inputs to the valuations, defined as ‘unobservable’ by IFRS 13, are analysed in the table below.

Estimated rental value per sq. ft Equivalent yield

Fair value at 
31 March 

2017
Minimum 

£
Maximum 

£

Weighted 
average 

£
Minimum 

%
Maximum 

%

Weighted 
average 

%

Valuation Technique:
One-off valuation 152 2.3 394.0 7.6 3.3 10.2 5.3
Beacon method* 1,078 n/a n/a n/a 4.5 12.0 7.3

*	� The Beacon methodology splits all the properties within the portfolio into 13 homogenous groups. The properties in each group are valued by applying a yield to the annual rent 
(passing or void) for the property. Yields applied are on the basis that the property is rack rented i.e. the current passing rent received from these properties are in line with market 
rent. As such, an estimated rental value per square feet for these properties is not available.

All other factors being equal, a higher yield would lead to a decrease in the valuation of a property and an increase in the current or 
estimated future rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capital value, and vice versa. However, there are interrelationships 
between the unobservable inputs which are influenced by market conditions, which would impact the changes in fair value.

25. Retirement benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes
On 1 April 2004 the group introduced a defined contribution pension scheme, the Network Rail Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 
(NRDCPS). This is an auto-enrolment scheme for all new employees of Network Rail, except those who have the legal right to join the 
Railway Pension Scheme (RPS), in compliance with regulations made under the Pensions Act 2008. Any employee who wishes to transfer 
from the Network Rail Section of the RPS to the NRDCPS is entitled to do so. 

At 31 March 2017, the NRDCPS had 10,595 members (2016: 10,802) and the average employer contribution rate in the year was 4.3 per cent 
(2016: 4.5 per cent).

Defined benefit schemes
The principal pension scheme in which the group participates is the Railway Pension Scheme (RPS), which was established by statutory 
instrument, commenced on 1 October 1994 and is a funded defined benefit arrangement. The assets and liabilities under the predecessor 
scheme, the British Rail Pension Scheme (BRPS), were transferred to the RPS on that date. The RPS is an industry-wide scheme for all eligible 
employees within the railway industry. There are different sections within it for different employers. The assets and liabilities of each 
section are identified separately from those of the other sections. The group has its own section, the Network Rail Shared Cost Section  
(the Network Rail Section). This scheme, the assets of which are held separately from the group, is contributory and provides pensions 
related to pay at retirement.

The assets transferred to the RPS from the BRPS on 1 October 1994 were apportioned among the various sections of the RPS in accordance 
with the methods and assumptions specified in The Railways Pensions (Transfer and Miscellaneous Provisions) Order 1994 (the ‘Transfer 
Order’) which effected the transfer. The amount credited to the Network Rail Section included a share of the surplus at that time. 

Since 1 April 2004, new members can only join the Network Rail Section of the RPS after completing five years of service. Benefits for 
existing members and employees joining up to and including 31 March 2004 were not affected by the revised eligibility rules of the 
Network Rail Section. In addition, the group announced its decision to cap its contribution to British Railways Additional Superannuation 
Scheme (BRASS) matching at current levels for existing employees and to dispense with matching for new employees. The group will 
continue to match regular contributions but will not increase them in cash terms in the future. On 1 November 2008 Network Rail launched 
a third pension scheme – the Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme, which is available to all employees. 

Qualified actuaries Towers Watson have valued the schemes on an IAS 19 (revised) basis at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

The contributions required to fund the RPS and the CARE scheme are reassessed every three years, following completion of actuarial 
valuations (by the Scheme Actuaries). Under the terms of the Pensions Act 2004, the Trustee and each employer must agree the methods 
and assumptions used to calculate the ‘Technical Provisions’, i.e. assets required to meet the Section’s liabilities. The assumptions agreed are 
typically weaker than those used for IAS 19 purposes in current market conditions, so the minimum funding requirement in itself requires 
no further adjustment to the IAS 19 obligations below. However, the regulatory regime may, depending on legal advice received at the 
appropriate time, mean that a future employer’s accounting surplus would need to be restricted.
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25. Retirement benefit schemes continued
The RPS and CARE schemes are both shared cost in nature, so the cost of benefits being earned and the cost of funding any shortfall in the 
schemes are normally split in the proportion 60:40 between the group and the members. In practice the contributions are adjusted at each 
triennial valuation to reflect the funding position of the schemes at that time.

In 2016 Network Rail agreed with the Trustee that, from 1 April 2016, the resulting contributions would be further adjusted with a slight 
increase in the member contribution rate and a corresponding reduction in the company’s rate. The group reflects its share of the 
contribution in the financial statements. The IAS 19 deficit, service cost and interest cost therefore represent 60% of the total for each of the 
schemes. From 1 April 2016 the service cost will be further reduced by the contribution adjustment referred to above.

The group paid contributions of 14.04% of Section Pay until 30 June 2016 and 13.20% of Section Pay thereafter for Protected members with 
a right to retire unreduced from age 60, 10.64% for non-Protected members with a right to retire unreduced from age 60 and 9.30% of RPS 
2012 Section Pay for other members. The equivalent rates for the CARE scheme are 8.88 per cent for group contributions.

The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid by the group and members to the schemes during the year ending 31 March 
2018 are £110m and £71m respectively. If a surplus or deficit arises, the provisions in the rules mean that the group and members benefit 
from or pay for this respectively in the proportion 60:40. 

2017
% 

2016
% 

Key assumptions used:
Discount rate 2.5 3.4
Expected rate of price inflation and CARE benefit increases (RPI measure) 3.2 2.9
Future earnings increases*
 - before changes to benefits from 1 April 2016
 - after changes to benefits from 1 April 2016

n/a
3.2

3.9
**2.9

Pension increases (CPI measure) 2.2 1.9

*	 Excluding promotional salary scale. Promotional salary scale increases apply only in respect of service after the date of promotion.
** 2.9% p.a. for non-Protected members, 3.4% p.a. for Protected members

2017 2016

Males Females Males Females

Average life expectancy for mortality tables used to determine defined benefit obligations:
– Member aged 65 now (pension under £10,300 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa) 21.2 23.0 21.0 22.8
– Member aged 65 now (others) 23.6 24.8 23.4 24.6
– �Member aged 65 in 20 years’ time (pension under £10,300 pa or pensionable pay 

under £35,000 pa) 23.6 25.4 23.3 25.2
– Member aged 65 in 20 years’ time (others) 25.9 27.2 25.7 27.0

For the Network Rail Section of the RPS the discounted mean term of the Defined Benefit obligation is 22 years, for the CARE scheme  
it is 33 years.

Amounts recognised in income in respect of the group’s pension arrangements are as follows:

 
2017

£m 
2016

£m 

Current service cost – defined contribution (see Note 6) 18 15
Current service cost – defined benefit (see Note 6) 178 195
Past service credit - defined benefit (see Note 6) (42) (124)
Interest cost 45 49

199 135

The current service cost has been included in employee costs, the net interest scheme deficit has been included in finance costs. The past 
service credit has arisen in the year due to  pension scheme changes that limited the way that above-inflation pay increases count towards 
defined benefit pension obligations.
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25. Retirement benefit schemes continued 
Amounts recognised in the statements of comprehensive income in respect of the group’s pension arrangement are as follows:

 
2017

£m 
2016

£m 

(Gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation due to experience (81) (29)
Loss on defined benefit obligation due to assumption changes 1,292 -
Return on plan assets greater than discount rate (412) (70)
Actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit pension scheme 799 (99)

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income was £1,709m (2016: £910m).

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit schemes is as follows:

 
2017

£m 
2016

£m 

The defined benefit obligation is made up as follows:
Active members (5,843) (4,415)
Deferred pensioner members (1,084) (799)
Retired members (3,156) (2,528)
Present value of defined benefit obligation (10,083) (7,742)
Fair value of scheme assets 6,231 5,375
Deficit in the scheme (3,852) (2,367)
Group’s share (60%) of the scheme deficit recognised in the balance sheet (2,311) (1,420)

This amount is presented as a non-current liability in the balance sheet. Cumulative gains or losses are recognised in equity.

Movements in defined benefit plan assets and liabilities (including members’ share):
Asset

£m 
Liabilities

£m
Deficit

£m

At 31 March 2015 5,071 (7,579) (2,508)

Current service cost including members’ share – (331) (331)
Interest on pension deficit 173 (255) (82)
Administration expenses (7) – (7)
Return on plan assets greater than the discount rate 117 – 117
Section amendment – 205 205
Actuarial gain arising from experience adjustments – 49 49
Regular contributions by employer 121 – 121
Contributions by employees 69 – 69
Benefits paid (169) 169 –
At 31 March 2016 5,375 (7,742) (2,367)

Current service cost including members’ share – (314) (314)
Interest on pension deficit 183 (259) (76)
Administration expenses (8) – (8)
Return on plan assets greater than the discount rate 687 – 687
Section amendment – 70 70
Actuarial gain arising from experience adjustments – 135 135
Actuarial loss arising from financial assumptions – (2,155) (2,155)
Regular contributions by employer 107 – 107
Contributions by employees 69 – 69
Benefits paid (182) 182 –
At 31 March 2017 6,231 (10,083) (3,852)

The actual return on scheme assets was £794m (2016: £290m).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

25. Retirement benefit schemes continued
Expected future benefit payments from the Network Rail Section, based on data from the 2013 formal valuation and the 31 March 2017 
IAS19 assumptions are as follows:

£m

Benefits expected to be paid within 12 months 167
Benefits expected to be paid between 2 to 3 years 375
Benefits expected to be paid between 4 to 6 years 666
Benefits expected to be paid between 7 to 10 years 1,088
Benefits expected to be paid between 11 to 15 years 1,661
Benefits expected to be paid in over 15 years 12,327

The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows:
Fair value of assets Percentage of assets

2017
£m 

2016
£m

2017
% 

2016
%

Equity instruments 5,509 4,756 88.41 88.49
Debt instruments – Government 417 357 6.69 6.64
Debt instruments – non-Government 259 232 4.16 4.31
Property 7 3 0.11 0.06
Other 39 27 0.63 0.50
 6,231 5,375

The group is exposed to a number of risks relating to the scheme including assumptions not being borne out in practice. The most 
significant risks are as follows:

Asset volatility
There is a risk that a fall in asset values is not matched by a corresponding reduction in the value placed on the defined benefit obligation 
scheme (DBO). The scheme holds a proportion of growth assets, which are expected to outperform corporate or government bond yields in 
the long term, but gives exposure to volatility and risk in the short-term.

Change in bond yields
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the scheme defined benefit obligation, although this will be partially 
offset by an increase in the value of the scheme’s corporate bond holdings.

Inflation risk
The majority of the scheme’s DBO is linked to inflation where higher inflation will lead to higher value being placed on the DBO. Some of 
the scheme assets are either unaffected by inflation or loosely correlated with inflation (e.g. growth assets), meaning that an increase in 
inflation will generally increase the deficit.

Life expectancy
An increase in life expectancy will lead to an increased value being placed on the scheme’s DBO. Future mortality rates cannot be predicted 
with certainty. 

Actuarial assumption sensitivity
The discount rate is set by reference to market conditions at the reporting date, and can vary significantly between periods. Downward 
movement in the discount rate during 2016-17, as disclosed above, is the most significant driver of the actuarial loss arising from financial 
assumptions.

The earnings increases are linked to inflation and so set by reference to market conditions at the reporting date.

The mortality assumptions used are set by considering the experience of the scheme’s members, and by making an allowance for possible 
future improvements in longevity. Mortality assumptions are difficult to set accurately, and forecasting rates of future mortality 
improvement is inevitably speculative.
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25. Retirement benefit schemes continued
The following table shows the effect of changes in these assumptions upon the defined benefit obligation:

2017
£m 

2016
£m 

Discount rate
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points increase (495) (359)
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points decrease 524 379
Mortality
Change in defined benefit obligation from a one year increase in longevity 323 248
Change in defined benefit obligation from a one year decrease in longevity (313) (241)
Earnings increase
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points increase 195 147
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points decrease (189) (143)
Price inflation (CPI measure)*
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points increase 522 382
Change in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points decrease (496) (364)

* Including consistent increases to Retail Price Index, salary growth and Retail Price Index/ Consumer Price Index related pensions assumptions.

26. Related parties
As the group’s sponsor, the Department for Transport (DfT) is considered a related party. Network Rail received grant income of £3,916m 
from the DfT in the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: £3,835m). The group also paid the DfT £300m in respect of the Financial Indemnity 
Mechanism fee (see note 24 for more details). At 31 March 2017 the company held £20,037m of loans issued by DfT.

The British Transport Police (BTP), with whom Network Rail has a Police Service Agreement is also a related party.  Network Rail was invoiced 
£90m (2016: £84m) by the BTP in the year ending 31 March 2017 and received £1m (2016: £1m) in property income from the BTP in the 
same period.

Network Rail is also a related party of High Speed 2 (HS2). At the end of the financial year Network Rail held £45m (2016: £24m) of capital 
work in progress relating to works on HS2 and had also received £39m (2016: £20m) of capital grants that was recorded as deferred income.  
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